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ABSTRACT

The excavations conducted on the site of Fort St. James,
British Columbia during the summer of 1971 consisted of

the uncovering of the foundations of the warehouse, the fish
cache and the clerk's quarters. Also uncovered were the
locations of several fence lines and boardwalks as well as
sixteen feet of the small tramway that led from the west end
of the warehouse out into the lake. The major excavations of
the summer were those concerned with the uncovering of the
interpreter's house and the trade store that burned in 1919.

The structures all dated from the period 1884-95.

LA
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PREFACE

During the field season in Fort St. James and later during the
compilation of this report a number of people have extended
their time and abilities and for this I am grateful. 1In

the town of Fort St. James I would like to thank Mayor

Ernie Robin, Chief Robert Antoine and Mr. Neil Sutherland
fpr helping us to establish this project in their community.
I would also like to thank the many local informants who
came forth with information concerning the past history of
the post and for the insights that they were able to provide
concerning the quality of life led by its inhabitants.
Included in this group I would especially like to thank

Mr. and Mrs. L.R. Dickinson, Mrs. Annie Rodicker,

Mrs. Amelia Prince, Mr. Alex Leggett, Mr. J.B. Patrick,

Mr. Don Vinnedge, Mrs. Lizette Hall and Mr. Richard Walker.
In Ottawa I would like to thank the personnel of the
National Historic Sites Serivce who helped in the compilation
of this report. I would like to thank Mr. Steve Epps for the

work he did on the illustrations, Miss Jeanne Alyluhia for
her analysis of the glass artifacts, Mr. Mike Shaughnessey
for his analysis of the metal artifacts and Miss Lynn Sussman
for her work on the ceramic artifacts.

Finally, I would like to thank Mr. George Ingram for the
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historical research he is doing on Fort St. James. His
research is as yet incomplete, and, consequently, his work has
not been cited in the body of the text. However, a fully
documented account of the history of Fort St. James will be
forthcoming. The historical material cited in this report
derives from Ingram's research. Thanks are due also to the

Hudson's Bay Company for the use of their material.



INTRODUCTION

During the months of June through September, 1971,
archaeological excavations were conducted at the National
Historic Site of Fort St. James, British Columbia. This
Hudson's Bay Company post is being researched for development
as a National Historic Park and structural evidence.concerning
its buildings and features both extant and missing is being
sought. This report is a preliminary discussion of the work
which was done in 1971 and an outline of the activities
projected for 1972.

The archaeological excavations during 1971 included the
excavation of the tramway which led from the fur warehouse
down the lake shore to the wharf, the foundations of the fur
warehouse, the foundations of the fish cache, intermediate
fences and boardwalks, the interpreter's house, partial
excavation of the trade store, and partial excavation of the
parade area of the compound. Related activities included
soil testing of the general vicinity of the site, a botanical
study of the same vicinity, a dendrochronological sampling
of Douglas fir around the mouth of Stuart Lake and a site
survey of other North West and Hudson's Bay Company posts
in the New Caledonia district. The purpose of the

excavations was primarily for site development. The other



activities were conducted so that the site might be
interpreted on a broad base, placing it within the soc¢ial,
economic and cultural context of New Caledonia and the

fur trade.



THE SITE

Physical Description

The site of Fort St. James is located within the town limits
of the town of Fort St. James, British Columbia, on what
were the city lots 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and lots A, B, C, D, and
E. The approximate position of the site is 56° 26" N, and

124°

15' W; and the approximate distance of the post from

the mouth of Stuart Lake is one mile (Fig. 1). The elevation
of site above mean sea level is 2274.0 ft. and its elevation
above mean water level of Stuart Lake is 37 ft.

The climate of this area is characterized by mild
summers and severe winters. During the summer months the
temperature may reach a maximum of 90-100°F on individual
days and as low as 60°F below zero during the winter. Summer
frosts are not uncommon and the average precipitation is
15.61 in., one-third to one-half of which falls as rain. The
driest part of the year is in the months of August and
September and at this time the lake level is at its lowest
before freeze up.

The fort St. James area belongs to the Interior
Physiologic System of the Canadian Cordillera which is
typified by dissected plateaus and scattered mountain

ranges. The region was heavily glaciated during the



Pleistocene era and the sites of the post and the town are
located en deep lacustrine deposits of a glacial lake bed of
alternating layers of silty clays and fine to coarse sands.
These deposits extend to a depth of 100 feet or more (Farstad
and Laird, 1954). The hills to the north and east of the
site are composed of limestone with minor amounts of shale,
gneiss and argillite.

The soil on which the site was constructed belongs to the
Grey Wooded group, Fort St. James series (Farstad and Laird
1954:35). These soils are characterized by clays ranging
in color and texture from dark grey fine to grey heavy
coarse. They are very plastic when wet and become extremely
hard when dry. Because of the alterations by man to natural
drainage systems, the surficial pH of the soil has increased
from 5.6 which is typical of the Grey Wooded group to
7.0-8.0. This pH increase has also been affected by the
area's source of ground water which is mostly run-off from
the massive limestone hills behind the site.

At present the vegetational coverage of the site is
mostly grasses and open field crops with a predominance of
foxtail barley (Hordeum jubatum), quack grass (Agropyron repens),
Shortawn foxtail (Alopecurus aequalis) and thistle (Cirsium
brevistylum). Before the site was cleared, which has been for
a considerable time, it is postulated that the vegetational
coverage was white spruce (Picea glauca).

The results of the above factors in terms of agricultural



potential are that the growing season is long enough and the
soil is rich and wet enough for crops, but that due to
summer frosts only the hardier plants such as potatoes and
turnips can be grown with any sort of assurance.

For detailed discussions of these factors and the
agricultural potential of the site and its significance to

the fur trade post see Norris, 1972.

Post Occupation of the Site

The key date regarding the functioning of the post as an
active trading center was 1947. At about this time the
retail operations were removed from the trade store to a
new site on the highway coming into Fort St. James. The
Hudson's Bay Company continued to use the warehouse for
storage until 1953 when that building was put in the care of
the local Fort St. James Historical Society. Later in 1964
the fish cache and men's house were also turned over to that
group. Up until that time the men's house had been rented
out to various private parties by the Hudson's Bay Company.
Also in 1947 the main dwelling place was leased to
Mr. Don Vinnedge who later bought the house in 1953. He in
turn sold the house to Mr. Walter Wraight who was the
resident at the time to purchase by the Provincial Government
of British Columbia.

During the 1940s and 50s the Hudson's Bay Company had

its property subdivided and began to sell lots for housing.



One such house was constructed to the southeast of the

trade store site and the occupant at least once had the
ground around the house and buildings plowed in order to
remove the fire hazard presented by the dried grass on the
site. Other residents in the area removed foundation stones
from the site of the interpreter's house and the trade store.
In the 1960s the federal government of Canada acquired the
land on which the warehouse, fish cache and men's house
stand along with a section of land that extended from

Fort Avenue to the water line of Stuart Lake.

History

The New Caledonia fur district as it was later defined,
encompassed a vast area of almost 90,000 square miles

bounded on the east by the Rocky Mountains through which
there was access at only two points, Pine Pass and Téte

Jaune Cache Pass. To the west lay the Coast Mountains
through which access was restricted to the valley of the
Skeena River which was un-navigable during many parts of the
year. Entrance into the district from the north was imprac-
tical and from the south was limited to the Fraser River which
presented formidable obstacles in the form of impassable
rapids, forcing much of the journey into difficult overland
routes. For the same reasons the area was relatively
isolated during the pre-contact period, although prior to the

coming of the white traders, the Indians of the Bulkley and



Skeena River valleys and the Bear Lake region did have
contact with Tsimshian traders from the Coast. (Jenness
1943: 478-82), and the Chilcotin Indians and Lower Carrier
conducted an active trade with Salish speaking Indians to
the south and west (Goldman 1941: 396).

Simon Fraser first moved into that what would become
New Caledonia in 1805 after establishing a post on McLeod
Lake as part of the North West Company's expansion west of
the Rockies and its search for an outlet on the Pacific
Coast. Posts followed at Stuart Lake in 1806 (Fort St.
James), and later, at Fraser Lake (Fort Fraser) and at the
confluence of the Nechako and Fraser Rivers (Fort George);
stepping stones on Fraser's journey to the Pacific. Fraser
returned from his journey a disappointed man, having failed
to find a suitable route to the Pacific, but the posts he
had established continued to conduct a successful trade
supervised by John Stuart and for a short time, Daniel Harmon.
Under their direction, Stuart Lake post, later called
Fort St. James, was established as the headquarters for the
surrounding district and the foundations were laid for the
conduct of trade throughout the 19th century.

The remoteness of the district and the small size of
the contingent of traders rendered necessary a tight control
of the outlying posts by the centrally located administrative
centre, Fort St. James. And the local authority maintained a

great deal of autonomy in relation to the outside world for



outside contact was restricted to the annual brigade. When
the district was first opened, furs were carried each year

to Fort William and exchanged for trading goods. One of the
most significant developments during the North West Company's
period was the linking in 1813 of the district for the
purposes of supply with the Columbia River. With the
exception of a short period after 1821, when Simpson ordered
the use of York Factory as the depot, this southerly
airection would be the orientation of New Caledonia
throughout the century. Each spring the brigade left

Fort St. James with furs, travelled by canoe (later boats) to
Alexandria where a change was made to horses to travel to
Lake Okanagan where boats could again be used for navigation.
This continued until 1848 when the brigade terminus was
changed to the lower Fraser River.

Within the district an internal system of communications
was developed whereby all goods coming into the distriét or
leaving it were channelled through Fort St. James. It was at
this location that the brigades heading south originated and
to which they returned. The bulk of the annual food supply
in the form of salmon was caught at Stuart, Fraser and Babine
Lakes, smoked, and taken to the Stuart Lake post where it was
then redistributed to the other posts in the district according
to their needs. Rations of dried salmon for the men and dogs
at Fort St. James alone consisted of 30,000 to 40,000 fish

annually and the needs of the district as a whole were



considerable. The fish were caught by the Indians and traded
to the company for goods. As the severity of the winter
increased and food began to run short these same fish were
sometimes traded back to the native population against their
annual trappings, further stimulating the trade.

The years under the North West Company formed the basis
for the period of expansion and consolidation which followed
the merger of the North West Company with the Hudson's Bay
Company. From 1821 the company enjoyed a period of monopolistic
trading which remained uncontested until after 1860. - An
additional post was established in the northern part of the
district at Bear Lake (Fort Connelly) and in the south a post
was established at Alexandria and another on the Chilcotin
River in an attempt to forestall Indian traders who were
siphoning off trade to the coast. The trade settled into a
fixed pattern interrupted only briefly, if tragically, by
the breakdowns in trader-Indian relationships such as the
murder of the company servants at Fort George in 1823; by
the occasional failure of the annual salmon run which threw
both Indian and trader into desperate straits; or by the
measles epidemic which swept through the Indian tribes in
1848-9. 1In normal years the district could be counted on for
well over 100 packs of furs (beaver and marten primarily)
allowing a rest for the trapped out areas of competition
east of the mountains.

This pattern was disrupted after 1860 when settlement and



mining on the lower Fraser brought improved lines of
communication and broke down the wilderness buffer which

had previously kept New Caledonia in relative isolation.
Miners passing through Fort St. James on their way to

Omineca (1868-71) and Cassier (1870s) gold fields to the

north and traders operating out of Quesnel, the new

commercial centre of the Catriboo district, offered an alternative
to the Hudson's Bay Company and increased thé trend towards a
cash economy. The introduction of new consumers and improved
lines of communication also brought an increased importation
of outside foodstuffs, hastening the breakdown of traditional
subsistence patterns. In conjunction with the opening of the
country came the missionaries. Father Modeste Demers had
first visited Stuart Lake in 1842 when he travelled to New
Caledonia with the fur trade brigade under Peter Skene Ogden.
After a short mission of three days among the Stuart Lake
Indians he returned to Alexandria where he establsihed a
permanent mission. After two brief visits by Father John
Nobili S.J. in 1845 and 1846-7, Fort St. James languished for
20 years until a visit by Bishop D'Herbomez marked a new
interest in New Caledonia. Finally in 1873, after a series of
annual visits, a permanent mission was established among the
northern Carriers and for the first time the Hudson's Bay
Company was faced at Stuart Lake with a permanently entrenched
rival for the loyalties of these Indians.

In spite of these changing circumstances the Hudson's Bay



Company continued to operate from the same posts as it had
done previously: Fort St. James, Fort Fraser, Fort Babine,
Fort George, Fort McLeod and Fort Connelly. The post at
Alexandria, however, was moved to Quesnel and became a part
of the district formed to take advantage of the retail trade
in the Cariboo mining area, and the fort at the forks of the
Chilcotin River had been closed because of the hostility of
the local Indians.

The detachment of Quesnel from New Caledonia was the
opening move in a trend on the part of the Hudson's Bay
Company to withdraw in the face of new concerns advancing
up the Fraser River valley. Competition continued throughout
the period after 1870, although perhaps not with the same
intensity as it had during the 1860s. It penetrated through-
out New Caledonia and even beyond into the Hudson's Bay
Company's perserves east of the mountains. The posts of
New Caledoniag were looked upon by the Company as a buffer to
protect these areas and temporary posts and trading parties
were dispatched to thwart the efforts of the free traders who
were infiltrating the district. Small posts were established
at Stony Creek, Fort Grahame, and Giscome Portage for just
this purpose, but the pressure proved to be too great and
caused a further withdrawal in the 1890s. 1In the face of
competition and declining returns drastic cutbacks in personnel
and posts were effected. A foretaste came in the early 1880s

when a number of the posts were temporarily closed. 1In the



1890s Babine Lake post was transferred to the jurisdiction of
the Hazelton-Port Simpson district, a reflection also of a
gradual earlier shift in the line of supply from the Fraser
River to the Skeena River. Fort George was placed in the
Cariboo district and Fort Connelly on Bear Lake was permanently
closed.

This trend continued into the 20th century when the
settlemént in the southern part of the district, the survey
and building of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway and the
general development of the country brought further retreat.
Fort Fraser was closed as was Fort George, and in the years
after 1918 the Company's operations at Fort St. James began
to emphasize retail sales over fur trading. 1Its present-day
outlet is indistinguishable from the other retail stores that
repidly moved into Fort St. James after the coming of the
Pacific Great Eastern Railroad. This railroad has opened up
the northern country to exploitation by mining and lumber
concerns and currently, the town is undergoing a considerable

boom.



METHODOLOGY

Rationale

It has been the intention of the National Historic Sites
Services to interpret Fort St. James as it existed in the
1890s, because the buildings currently standing on the site
date from 1884-1890. To satisfy any structural questions
which might arise from this course of action the following

excavations were planned for the 1971 field season.

Strategy

1. Search for the fences that surrounded the post and divided
up its work areas and gardemns; location of the false
palisade that was erected in 1928 for the centennial
celebration so that it will not be confused with the
earlier fences; and location, if possible, of the
boardwalks that connected the various buildings of the
post.

2. Location of the tramline that ran from wareshouse out
into the lake and was used for hauling supplies brought
in by sloop up the steep lake shore.

3 Location of the two trade stores that stood in the

center of the post. The first of these was built in



1884 and wés destroyed by fire in 1919. On approximately
the same location, but with a different orientation
another store was built. This one was altered on
several occasions and finally removed in the late 1940s.
Excavation of the small interpreter's house which was
destroyed by fire in 1935.

Location and excavation of the forge and carpenter's
workshop that was located to the north of the fort.

The bellows for the forge are still in the fur ware-
house.

Location and excavation of the several privies and
barns that were scattered about the periphery of the
fort. Because of the high phosphorus content of
deposits of this type, phosphate soil testing should
provide their locations. These tests will not only
lessen exploratory trenching, but will provide data on
the phosphorus content of the soil.

Location and excavation of the harness and sled shed,
or, as it was later called, the Grahame garage. This
structure was believed to have originally been built

in the late 1840s by Donald Manson and might provide a
definite orientation for that earlier post. It has

also been reported to have held large quantities of HBC
trade tokens and tickets that were destroyed or disposed
of in the 1920s.

Location of the site of the flagstaff erected in 1889.



The location of this feature will also provide data
on the entrance to the fort, because it was erected in
the centre of the road up from the lake.

9. Location and excavation of the small storage building
and ice house erected by W.D. Fraser in the 1920s.
This building stood between the warehouse and the fish
cache and was not believed to have had a cellar.

10. During the progress of the above-mentioned excavations
attention would also be directed toward detecting
evidence of the earlier HBC posts that may or may not
have been on the same site.

During the course of the 1971 field season not all of these

objectives were satisfied, giving rise to the need for a

second field season.

To implement these excavations the following excavational

techniques were employed:

Technique

An imaginary point of origin was established and at a point
1100 ft. north, 1300 ft. east of that station a secondary
station was established (Fig. 2). This station consisted of
a steel pin with a cross in the top and set in concrete.
From this point a grid system was laid down over the entire
area to be excavated based on 10 ft. intervals. The base line"
of this grid system was oriented 14° 30' west of magnetic

north or 41° 24' west of true north. This line approximated



the north-south orientation of the post.

Grid System

One in. by two in. by 18 in. wooden grade stakes, whose
longitudinal axes were oriented paralled to the east-west
line of the grid system, were used to delineate the 10 ft.
grid intervals. All measurements in any 10 ft. square were
made from the southeast corner of that square........and
from the southeast corner of the particular stake that

located that point in the grid system.

Vertical Control

Vertical control in the site was maintained by the use of a
transit whose station was centrally located and permanently
established. The height of the instrument was constant
at 4.8 ft. above the ground surface or 2280.0 — 0.15 ft.
above sea level. The error of = 0.15 ft. was constant. In
circumstances where direct line of sight was obstructed,
temporary stations were established for obtaining particular

elevations.

Units

All elevations were taken with a leveling rod and were read
to the nearest 0.05 ft. All distances were taped with either

a cloth or steel tape and units for horizontal distances were



noted in feet, tenths of feet and hundredths of feet.

Maps and Sketches

All maps and sketches drawn on the site were oriented to
the grid system and north arrows on these drawings refer to

a northerly direction 14° 30"

west of magnetic mnorth. The
scale employed for sketches and drawings was generally 1 in.-=
2 ft. unless indicated otherwise. The drawing of trench
floors and features, etc, was aided by the use of steel 5 ft.
by 5 ft. frame which was cross-sectioned by steel wires placed

at 1.0 ft. intervals. This frame was leveled with two line

levels attached to the frame and placed on perpendicular axes.

Photography

Black-and-white photography was accomplished with the use of
a 35 mm. Pentax camera body using 28 mm. or 35 mm. Takumar
lenses. Color photography was accomplished with a 35 mm.
Mamiya Sekor 528 TL camera with a telephoto and wide angle
lens kit. The scale used in the 35 mm. black and white
photographs was either a standard leveling rod or a 1.0 ft.

arrow which was divided into inches.

Artifact Collection

Artifacts from all areas excavated were kept, but on a

differential basis. Sub-operations entailing explorations



for fences and broadwalks were not screened systematically
for artifacts, but any artifacts found were kept according
to the specific provenience. This "rule" also applied to
the excavations of the sod layer in all other areas as
well. During the excavation of the interpreter's house
and the trade store the soils beneath the sod layer were
screened through 1/4 inch hardware cloth screens for

artifacts.

Implementation

The digging techniques employed during the summer varied

from exploratory trenching to extensive excavations of

specific localities. In all cases the first lot in any
sub-operation which consisted of the sod layer was stripped

away before that particular area was approached archaeologically.
In the case 0of sod removal the sod was cut into squares with

an axe and removed. Subsequent excavations were conducted

with shovel and trowel.

Stratigraphy

The stratigraphy of the site of Fort St. James which will be
discussed in more detail under the separate operational
headings is presented here in a general form so that an over-
all impression of the stratigraphic sequences of the soil
might be obtained.

As stated elsewhere the site is located on a relatively



flat expanse of glacial lake bed on the eastern shore of

Stuart Lake. The underlying soils consist of heavy grey

clays overlying alternate layers of sand and silt. Draimage
for the reasons mentioned is poor and mostly surficial.

Generally, the stratigraphy on the site consisted of
three layers: a sod layer, a sub-soil humus layer and
sterile, sandy clay.

The sod layer which usually constituted lot 1 was
composed of the roots of hay type grasses of which the
predominant types were foxtail barley (Hordeum jubatum) and
qua;k grass (Agropyron repens). The root systems of these
grasses were very dense and interwoven, and removal of the
layer could only be accomplished in sections. No attempt
was made to sort through these sections in search of
artifacts. This layer varied in depth from 0.1 ft. to 0.4 ft.
and its phosphorus content varied from 8.0 _ 0.1 ppm. at the
surface to 2.5 0.1 ppm. in the rooting zone.

The humus layer below the sod was a consistent dark
brown in color and contained the remnants of the roots
systems of the sod grasses. Features were not really
discernable in this layer except in the case of stones and
timbers which projected into it from below. This layer was
formed by the decomposition of the overlying sod and other
organic materials. Gemnerally it was described as lot 2 during

the excavations and it had an approximate thickness of 0.3 ft.

to 0.5 ft. 1Its phosphorus content ranged from 1.8 0.1 ppm.



to 2.5 = 0.1 ppm.

The third predominant layer was the sterile clays and
sands which underlay the entire area. This layer, which was
later determined as a lacustrine deposit of a Pleistocene
lake, was termed beach sand throughout the field record. 1Its
consistency varied from dense clays to gravelly sands and it
was estimated to have a depth of over 100 ft. (Farstad and Laird
1954) with a phosphorus content of 1.0 ppm. The significance
of this layer to the excavations was that its upper side acted
as a matrix into which cultural deposits intruded. Its color
varied from grey-white to grey to dark grey. It also contained
some beige and light buff coloured sandy clays. The upper
foot or so of this layer contained traces of decomposed roots,
but there were no indications of the past presence of a deeply
rooted forest cover. This gave rise to the conclusion that if
the area had at one time been covered by forest it was
composed mainly of white spruce (Picea glauca) (For complete
explanation of vegetational progression, see Norris 1972).

This stratigraphic pattern varied in some areas, but for
the most part it was the pervasive sequence throughout the

site.



Figure 1. 1907 map of North-Central British Columbia
by A.G. Morice (Provincial Archives of

British Columbia).
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Figure 2. Fort St. James. 1971 excavation plan

(3T-72-101-1).



1250 _|_

1200 +

1150 _|_

TRUE
NORTH

'CONCRETE
— MONUMENT

_—

N1I00 + +/

EI250 -

o
|
]

1

3TIC L

L
\——

3TN poes

o = |
i
L N s N O R é\@
) | "-|q T 3 -—w, ew
— =
3 T
_'——C);—D_:O 3 Q_

(3T2,4-16)
LEGEND:
s WOOD
O ROCK
2% CHARCOAL
@l SOIL STAINS

. 1

- 1450

: 3TIH
LJ

CLERK'S

: .
L o ¢

3TIQ 3TIP INTERPRETERS' HOUSE
3T3

FORT ST JAMES - SITE 3T
1971 EXCAVATION PLAN

0 10 35 © 3 .

- 1550



Figure 3.

1888-89 map of the Hudson's Bay Company
post of Fort St. James by Roderick MacFarlane

(Provincial Archives of British Columbia).

FIGURE 3

Drawing No. 3T-72-102-14
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Figure 4. Towing the cart up from the lake to the
- warehouse. (Provincial Archives of

British Columbia).






Figure 5. Track and wharf prior to 1904, but exact date

uncertain (Provinial Archives of British Columbia).

Figure 6. Track and wharf after 1904, but exact date

uncertain (Provincial Archives of British Columbia).
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the 1870s the line of transportation through which the

New Caledonia district was supplied was gradually shifted
from the mouth of the Fraser River to the mouth of the

Skeena River and Port Essington. From there the goods were
shipped up the Skeena River to Hazelton. They were then
portaged overland to the mouth of Babine Lake where they were
loaded onto freight boats and sailed up the lake to its top
where they were portaged over to Stuart Lake and sailed down
to Fort St. James on boats. In 1891 the first steamer was put
into use on the Skeena and in 1892-93 schooners were added on
Stuart and Babine Lakes to carry the increased amount of
goods that could be shipped by the Skeena route. At

Fort St. James lighters working from a landing on the beach
were used to unload the schooner but this was a cumbersome
and costly system and to do away with it, a wharf and track
were constructed during the winter 1894-95. When first

built the wharf had only three piers or sets of cribwork
which actually extended into the lake, but because of the

low water level in the late summer and fall months, it was
extended in 1905 by two more piers. This transition can be
seen in Figures 5 and 6. This system of supply was main-
tained until about the time of the First World War when the
Grand Trunk Pacific railroad was completed to Prince George,
and Wanderhoof, and goods could therefore be shipped over-

land from that point.



Excavations

The excavation 3T1A, for the track was located to the west

of the warehouse in a trough-like depression that led down

to the beach. The size of the excavation shown in Figure 7

was 20 ft. by 25 ft. and its co-ordinates were 1275N-1300N,
1245E-1265E. Within this excavated area the railway,

oriented east and west, was located between 1285N-1290N, 1245E-

1265E.

Stratigraphy

The track was excavated in three lots two of which

correspond to the stratigraphic sequence of the soil. The
third lot was more closely related to the cultural context of
the railway. Figures 8a and 8b present profile drawings of
the eastern and western ends of the excavation.

Lot 3T1Al corresponds to the sod layer which was relatively
thin, being only 0.15 ft. thick. This layer was removed by
sectioning, but, because of the thinness of the lot, it was
difficult to remove in such a manner. Directly below grey
clay was encountered and was termed 3T1A2. There was very
little humus development, as noted in the other areas of the
excavation, and the grey clay designated 3T1A2 was almost
devoid of artifacts.

Lot 3T1A3 consisted of the organic or humus development
below the sod layer, but directly associated with the area

of the track. This lot, depicted in both Figures 8a and 8b



Was probably the result of the decaying sub-structure of the
railway or material that had slumped down into the low point
of the trough from the side walls. At the very bottom of the
ditch were the rotted timber remains of the track.

One significant item shown in 8a was the indentation at
1248.6N, 1265E in the ditch wall. This step may have resulted
from the original excavation of the ditch prior to the laying

of the rails.

Features

Figures 9 and 10 are detailed views of the excavation of the
track. From these it is possible to see the composition and
orientation of the wooden rails. The centre line of the rails
runs from 1287.9N, 1265E at the eastern end of the excavation
to 1287N, 1244E. The wood used in the feature including the
rails and cross-ties was identified as Douglas fir as was the
plank that lay to the south of the track. The wooden rails
measured approximately 0.3 ft. in width and were separated by
a distance of 1.5 ft. There was only one cross-tie remaining
and it measured approximately 0.4 ft. in width. There were
stains of several other cross-ties and these measure
approximately 0.6 ft. in width. These cross-ties, if measured
centre to centre, averaged an approximate separation of 2.9 ft.
The total length of the section uncovered was 16.3 ft. and
the presence of gravel indicated that the entire structure,

up to the point where it became elevated by the crib work was



bedded -in gravel.

At the western terminus of the uncovered railway section,
the first beam of the supportive cribwork was encountered.
This beam, a peeled log of Douglas fir, had a diameter of
0.55 ft. It lay perpendicular to the path of the railway
and at two points along its length it showed wear marks. (Fig.
10) These spots were approximately 1.7 ft. apart, centre to
centre and aligned with the direction of the rails. To the
west of this log toward the lake definite evidence of the
railway was missing, although the dark organic stain
persisted.

The only other feature in this sub-operation was a
post hole whose centre was located at 1298N, 1248E and whose
diameter was 0.75 ft. The fill of this intrusion was a dark

brown organic soil.

Synopsis

The wharf and the track that extended from the warehouse out
into Stuart Lake was constructed in 1894-95, they were extended
again in 1904 and discontinued in 1916. This structure ran
from the west end of the warehouse along the ground for 126 ft.
where the first evidence of crib work appears. This crib

work decreased the grade of the shore and from Figures 5 and 6
it was possible to determine that there were six or seven

sets of cribbing. This figure does not include the last two

piers which were added in 1904. By extrapolating from the



historic photographs of the wharf and its relation to the
water level, it was estimated that the wharf and track probably
did not extend more than 395 ft. west of the warehouse.

It is postulated that the principal construction material
was Douglas fir and that the logs used were probably unpeeled.
The rails as depicted in the historic photographs appear to
have been wooden with a metal rod running down their length
to accept the load of the cart. This hand-towed cart was
stolen early in the 20th century and was reported to have been
taken to the Indian village at the mouth of Pinchi Creek where
it was reported burned. The iron wheels of the cart were
supposedly at the location for some time and may yet be there,

although no search was made for them during the 1971 season.



Figure 7. Plan of the 1971 tram excavation (3T-72-102-9).
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Figure 8. Profiles of east and west faces of

sub~-operation 3T1A (3T-72-102-2).
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Figure 9. Sub-structure of the track in 3T1A after

Excavation, looking north. 3T-100M.

Figure 10. Support beam of the tram sub-structure. Note wear

marks on beamn. 3T-103M.






Figure 11. Pack train readying for departure in front of

warehouse, 1891 (Hudson's Bay Company, Winnipeg).
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The General Warehouse and Fur Store

This large standing Red River frame structure measuring

59 ft by 29 ft. was used as a general warehouse for the post
wherein were stored furs and trade goods not only for

Fort St. James, but for the other posts in the New Caledonia
district as well. Currently it is in good repair although
the ground floor has suffered considerably from frost heaval.
No excavations were conducted within the structure, however,
the exterior sides of the foundations and other associated
features to the west, south and east of this building were

uncovered.

History

The warehouse was proposed, along with several other buildings,
which constituted a major renovation of the post, by

Roderick MacFarlane in 1888. This factor apparently had it
built without authorization from the head office of the
Hudson's Bay Company and it is now one of the largest surviving
Red River frame buildings known.

James McDougall described the building in 1891 as being a
general warehouse and fur store of log, lined with matched
lumber and having a shingle roof. As such it was used through-
out its history, which, operationally, lasted probably into

the 1940s.



Very few alterations have occurred to the exterior of the
building and these consisted of only minor details such as
the appearance or disappearance of eaves troughing, etc. In
1928 the roof was re-shingled with western red cedar, but
the Douglas fir logs which constituted the walls were un-
altered. The interior of the warehouse has been altered

during the past but to what extend is uncertain.

Excavations

There were three excavations (Figure 2) made around the
vicinity of the warehouse, sub-operations 3T1B, 3T1C and 3T1lJ.
All were begun as 5 ft. wide trenches that paralled the west,
south and east walls of the warehouse, respectively, but

3T1J was later widened to 6 ft. The sub-operations have the

following co-ordinates, and each will be discussed in the order

given:
3T1B: 5 ft. by 25 ft., 1285N-1310N, 1370E-1375E.
3Tic: 5 ft. by 55 ft., 1275N-1280N, 1370E-1425E.
3T1J: 6 ft. by 40 ft., 1270N-1310N, 1434E-1440E.
3T1B

This sub-operation was the excavation of the western wall
foundation of the warehouse and its principal purpose was
three-fold. The first objective was to establish the nature
of the western wall foundation; the second objective was to
locate any evidence of the tramway and its connection with

the western door of the warehouse; and the final objective was



to determine the location of any other features associated
with the western wall, i.e., boardwalks or fences.

The stratigraphy of this sub-operation resembled that of
the general area of the site in that the soil was composed,
basically, of three natural strata; the sod layer, the
humus accumulation below that layer, and the sterile sandy
clay below that. There was a slight variation to this
arrangement in that these was a layer of wood chips, probably
white spruce, interposed between the humus accumulation and
the sandy clay. The lot numbers for the sod layer, humus
accumulation, wood chips and clay were 3T1B1l, B2, B3, and B4
respectively.

3T1B1. The sod layer was removed and the material was
not screened, but the artifacts that did come out of the
excavation were kept. Nothing else distinctive was apparent
in this lot.

3T1B2. This lot was composed of the humus layer and
within it were found several rotted timbers. These timbers
were western red cedar and either formed the substructure of
a boardwalk or part of the tramway connection to the warehouse.
The layout of these timbers may indicate a loading platform
9 ft. by 3 ft. (Fig. 2), and their upper sides had an
elevation of 2274 ft. MSL.

3T1B3. This lot was constituted by a layer of composed
wood chips that also appeared in 3T1C and 3T1D. These were
identified as being white spruce and their thickness as a lot

varied from 0.1 ft. to 0.4 ft. The origin of these chips was



uncertain, but they may have represented the original forest

cover which was cleared to make the land usable, or they may

have been the remains of the old roof that was replaced in

1928. This last suggestion seems unlikely, because none of

the woodchips had a slab-like appearance which would be the

case, if they had been the remnants of a shake or shingle roof.
3T1B4. This lot was the sterile lacustrine deposit which

underlines the general Fort St, James area and it contained

no significant intrusions. The base of the excavation had

an elevation of 2272.8 ft. MSL., or a depth of 1.1 ft. below

ground surface. The clay had a buff to grey color.

Features. The features exposed by this excavation were
the warehouse foundation and the rotted timbers in front of
the western door.

The foundation for the warehouse (Figure 13) was composed
of relatively flat limestone laid in double or triple courses
depending on the sizes of the individual.stones. These stones
averaged about 1.0 ft. in width, but were undressed and showed
very little regularity in size. They are unmortared and at
intervals of 5 ft. or 6 ft. wooden sleepers projected
through the foundation. These beams measured approximately
8 in. by 8 in. and were spaced at intervals that ranged from
5 ft to 7 ft. These beams ran beneath the wooden sill or
base plate of the wall which rested on the stone foundation
and their relationships with the floor joists of the warehouse
and their length were unknown. They had an elevation of

2273.8 ft. MSL., and probably served to bind the stones of



the foundation in place and may only be short beams 3 ft. or
4 ft. in length.

In front of the western door of the warehouse were six
partially rotted timbers. These were believed to have been
western red cedar which is rare to non-existent in the
Fort St. James bio-geo-climatic zone. The timbers were at a
shallow depth beneath the surface within the matrix of the
humus accumulation and above the layer of wood chips, lot
3T1B3. The locations of these timbers in relation to each
other and in relation to the door of the warehouse would
indicate the existence of either a boardwalk or a low leading
platform.

The northwest cormner of warehouse was exposed and Figure
14 is a representation of that construction detail. The end
of the west wall base plate was cut in a half dovetail joint
as was the end of the northern wall base plate. The stone
foundation extended to the corner of the base plate, although

it had slumped slightly outward.

3T1C

This sub-operation was the excavation of the front or southern
wall of the warehouse and its objectives were to:

(a) determine the dimensions and the extent of the boardwalk
along the southern exterior of the warehouse; (b) provide
information concerning the southern entrance to the warehouse;
and (c) to locate any other features that might be associated

with the warehouse foundation.



The stratigraphy of this sub-operation closely paralleded
that of 3T1B in that there was a sod layer, 3T1Cl, a humus
accumulation, 3T1C2, a layer of wood chips, 3T1C3 and sterile
buff to grey sandy colored clay, 3T1Cl4. The intervening lot
numbers, 3T1€4-3T1Cl3 were post holes and other intrusions.
There were excavated separately and note was made only of
those which proved significant.

Features. The features in this sub-operation consisted
of the foundations of the southern wall, the door step in
front of the south door and various post holes and intrusions.

The foundations of the building shown in Figure 15 along
the south wall were quite similar to those found along the
west wall of the building. Again it was composed of limestone
laid in double or triple courses and the various sized stones
were undressed. This stone foundation was topped with.a
wooden base plate and it was broken in several places with
wooden sleepers placed at intervals of 5 ft. to 7 ft.

The foundation terminated at 0.8 ft. east of the south-
west corner of the building and that corner was supported by
an overlapping system of beams as shown in Figures 16 and 17.
It was not bound by a half dovetailed joint which was the case
with the northwest corner of the building. The stone foundation
had also slumped downward about 0.4 ft., a circumstance due
probably to the rotting of the lower support beam. An
elevation taken on the top, or what was assumed to be the top

of that beam, was 2273.5 ft. MSL. The top of the stone



foundation had an elevation of 2274.0 ft. MSL., but it was
estimated that the foundation had slumped 0.3 ft. to 0.4 ft.

This foundation presented a fairly regular appearance the
length of the south wall of the warehouse. In front of the
doorway in that wall several large flattish limestones had
been placed to form a door step. The largest of these
measured 2.3 ft. by 1.5 ft. and the elevation on its upper
surface was 2274.6 MSL. This stone rested on several others
and at the beginning of the excavation was covered only by
the sod layer. This stone was not mortared in place and its
center point lay at approximately 1278.2N, 1408E.

-Aside from the foundation and the doorstep the other
significant features in 3T1C consisted of a series of post holes
that paralleled the southern side of the structure. In some
cases the foundation appeared to overlap the post pits or holes
in which the posts had been placed. The lot>numbers for these
post were 3T1C4, C6, C8, Cll, Cl2, and C1l3 (Fig. 2). Lot
numbers 3T1C5, C7, C9, Cl0 were also intrustions, but did not
fit into the linear pattern described by the previously
mentioned post holes. 3T1C5 may have been within this linear
pattern, but 3T1C7 was only a depression filled with mottled
brown coloured sand. 3T1C9 was a hole dug for the placement
of a copper ground wire and 3T1C1l0 through a post hole failed
to conform to the line described by 3T1C4, C6, C8, Cc1l1, Cl2,
and C1l3. A continuation of this line of posts appeared in
3T1J, 3T1F and 3T1H, but further investigation will be needed

to determine its course exactly.



The posts found in 3T1C were all erected in a similar
fashion in that a posthole approximately 2 ft. by 1.5 ft.
was dug and the post, place near one side, was propped up-
right and the hole was backfilled. Attempts were made to
excavate to the bottom of these holes, but heavy rains during
the excavation caused them to slump inwardly. Approximate
elevations indicate a depth of 2.4 ft. below ground surface.
These posts may have indicated the existance of a fence, but
there was no photographic or documentary record of one in
this area. Also the location of the post and the relation-
ship of their pits to the foundation of the warehouse
indicated that they predated this structure. However, the
wood from which the posts were cut was identified as western
red cedar which was and is not common in this region. That
this material was imported to Fort St. James for fence posts
during the early part of the 19th century seems highly un-
likely, presenting an enigma which can only be solved with

further study.

3T1J

This sub-operation constituted the excavation of the east

wall of the warehouse and its purposes were to expose the

foundation of that structure, locate any associated features,

e.g., the fence that ran from the warehouse to the fish cache.
Again the stratigraphy of this sub-operation resembled that

of the general area in that the upper layer, 3T1J1l, was sod and

the humus beneath it was termed 3T1J2. 3T1J3 was the designation



used for the ditch which ran east and west across the trench
between 1295N and 1300N. The relationship of this ditch to
the warehouse foundation is illustrated in Figures 18 and 19.
It can be seen in this profile that the ditch ran beneath the
warehouse foundation, but it is uncertain as to whether or not
the ditch pre-dates the warehouse. The ditch was slighly
over 1.0 ft. in width and, again, rain prevented determining
its exact depth, which was estimated to have been 2.7 ft.
below ground surface. This ditch in places still retained
fragments of wood and gave the impression that it might have
been wood-lined. The evidence, however, was too fragmentary
to be certain. A continuation of this ditch was found in
3T1F.

Features. The eastern foundation was similar to that of
the other two sides already described. It was composed of
two to three courses of unmortared, undressed limestone upon
which rested a wooden base plate. At intervals of 5 ft. to
7 ft. were decayed sleeper beams approximately 0.6 ft. square.
There were several post holes and intrusions in the clay
matrix which formed a trench floor, but these did not describe
any definite patterns. One post hole located at 1294.6N,
1436.1E still had rotted wood at its centre and may have been
the terminus point for the fence that ran between the fish
cache and the warehouse. This post which measured 1.1 ft.
by 0.7 ft. was directly aligned with a small rectangular

piece of wood nailed to the warehouse wall at an elevation of



4.5 ft. above ground surface or 2278.8 MSL. This position

was not exactly in line with the supposed position of the
fence in the available historic photographs. The photographs
indicate that the fence that ran between the fish cache and
the warehouse began somewhere toward the middle of the
warehouse wall and extended to the northwest corner of the
fish cache. 1If the post hole and wood block were the western
terminus point for the fence and it met the wall at right
angles theq it would meet the west wall of the fish cache at a
spot 5 ft. south of the cormner. Another post hole (3T1J5)
located at 1299.8N, 1435.6E lay closer to this required position,
and was also aligned with a linear stain found in 3T1F,

indicating that this was the probable location of the fence.

Synopsis

The warehouse as a standing structure is in fairly good
condition except for the frost heaval that the floor has
suffered. Constructed in 1888 it now stands as one of the
largest Red River frame buildings surviving from the 19th
century. The excavations around its foundations, 3T1B, 3T1C
and 3T1J have provided good evidence of the type of foundation
it did have and they have presented the features that are
immediately associated with it. These excavations have also
posed some other problems in that it is now necessary to
determine the nature of the row of post holes that were

uncovered in 3T1C and the nature of the ditch in 3T1J.



On the western side of the structure evidence of the
loading platform or boardwalk on that side were revealed. On
the southern side of the structure this was not the case.
Along this wall no evidence that could definitely be ascribed
to represent the boardwalk was found, but this information
can be extrapolated from other data.

The fence that stretched from the warehouse to the fish
cache was located with a fair degree of accuracy. The
evidence of this fence consisted of the post holes lpocated at
1299.8 N, 1435.6E and the dark stain located at the same

co-ordinates in 3T1lF, discussed later in the report.



Figure 12. Topographical map of site drawn by Physical
Planning Division, Technical Services Branch,
Department of Indian Affairs and Northern
Development, 1972.
1. Warehouse
2. TFish cache
3. Men's quarters

4. Dwelling House






Figure 13a. Northwest cornmer of warehouse in sub-operation
3T1B. Western basal log is joined to northern
basal log with a half dovetailed joint. Both

logs have suffered considerably from decay.

3T-76 M.
Figure 13b. Stone foundation beneath the western entrance
to the warehouse in sub-operation 3T1B. Note the

decayed sleeper beam below the left cormer of the

door frame. 3T-73 M.






Figure 14. Stylized view of northwest corner of the

warehouse (3T-72-102-8).



- 63 -

STYLIZED VIEW
North West Corner of

Warehouse

Not to Scale



Figure 15.

Figure 16.

Double coursed limestone foundation of ware-
house in 3T1C. ©Note the gap left by decaying
sleeper beam and the rotted state of the bottom-

most log. 3T-88 M.

Southwest corner of the warehouse in 3T1C. Note
the wooden member that extends out from the
foundation and how the stone has slumped away

from the foundation. 3T-85 M.






Figure 17. Stylized view of the southwest corner

of the warehouse (3T-72-102-7).
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Figure 18. Filled ditch, 3T1J3, as seen in the profile

of 3T1J. 3T-112 M.

Figure 19. Ditch 3T1J3 and its relationship to the eastern
wall foundation of the warehouse between 1295N-

1300N. 3T-111 M.
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Figure 20. Pack train preparing for departure for Fort
McLeod with fish cache in background

(Provincial Archives of British Columbia).






Fish Cache (Salmon and Bacon Store)

The fish cache was a unique building. It was patterned

after the traditional Indian structure‘used for the storage
of fish and other meats in that it was elevated above the
ground. This structure, however, was of Red River frame
construction, but the vertical studs were elongated, raising
the building 7 ft. above the ground. These studs were
tenoned into a base plate which rested on a thin stone
foundation. The roof was hipped and capped off with a wooden
ball-type finial. The roofing material was cedar shingles
and these were denticulated along the eaves. The entrance

to the structure was on the south side and was attained by a
short flight of stairs. The logs used in construction showed
previous use and in all probability were used in the fort of

the 1848-54 period, which immediately preceded this post.

Historz

The fish cache was proposed by Roderick MacFarlane as part of
his extensive alterations to the post and it was completed
before September, 1889. It was first used for the storage

of bacon and dried salmon, but later in the 20th century

it was used for oil storage. In this case the drums were
probably stored below the cache itself, because the stairs

leading up to the door had disappeared by 1925. 1Imn 1928 it too



received a new roof.

Excavations

The excavations made around the fish cache consisted of two
trenches, one 5 ft. by 50 ft. and the other 7 ft. by 60 ft.
The first, 3T1G, was dug in three horizontal lots, and the
second, 3T1H, contained six lots. The co-ordinates for these
two sub-operations are given below and they will be discussed
in that order:
3T1G: 5 ft. by 50 ft.; 1270N-1320N, 1510E-1515E.
3T1H: 7 ft. by 60 ft.; 1270N-1282N, 1515E-1575E
This second sub-operation was later extended 8 ft. mnorth

between 1540E-1560E.

3T1G
The purpose of this sub—operafion was to ascertain the
location of the fence that ran between the warehouse and the
fish cache. It actually was not close enough to the fish
cache to provide much information about that structure.

The stratigraphy of this trench was quite similar to
that of the other areas of the site already discussed in
that it consisted of a sod layer, sub-surface humus accumulation
and sterile grey clay. In the southern end of the trench a
layer of burnt wood chips was interposed between the clay and
the humus, but this latter covered only a small area.

3T1Gl. Sod layer - there was nothing distinctive about

this layer and it was not screened for artifacts. 1Its



approximate thickness was 0.3 ft. to 0.4 ft.

3T1G2. This was the layer of humus build-up between the
sod and the underlying clay. The same overall horizontal
dimensions exist for this lot as for 3T1G and its approximate
thickness was 0.2 ft.

3T1G3. This was a layer of partially burned wood chips
which may have been evidence of an earlier grass fire or the
burnt remains of the old roof. This burn was confined to a
small area between 1270N-1280N, 1510E-1515E.

3T1G4. Sterile lacustrine clay. There was nothing
significant about this stratum.

Features. Only one feature of note was uncovered in this
trench and it consisted of a post hole or possible post hole
whose centre was located at 1279.5N, 1513.5E. This location
placed it directly in line with the post holes found in 3T1C.
There was no evidence of the fence between the warehouse and

the fish cache.

3T1H

This sub-operation was located along the southern wall of the
fish cache foundation and its purpose was four-fold. It
attempted to: (a) establish the location of the boardwalk
between the fish cache and the clerk's quarters; (b) establish
the location of the false palisade that was erected for the
1928 centennial celebration (Figure 21); and (d) determine the

nature of the fish cache foundation.



These object;ves were only partially fulfilled in that
the boardwalk was not located and it seemed unlikely that
any subterranean evidence of this construction would exist,
because of its very nature. The piers of the stairs were
located and recorded, as were the probable location of the
false palisade and structural data concerning the foundation
of the building. During the excavation evidence of another
structure was uncovered and this will also be discussed.

3T1H1 and 3T1H2. These two lots corresponded to the sod

layer and the accompanying humus accumulation and had a
combined thickness of 0.9 ft. Their artifacts were kept,
but the fill was not screened.

3T1H3. This was the designation given to the fill from
the ditch which was believed to have been dug for the false
palisade or fence erected for the centennial celebration.
honoring the passage of Sir George Simpson through Fort St.
James in 1828 (Figure 21). This palisade only extended
across the eastern side of the post and had a gate between
the clerk's quarters and the interpreter's house. It was
believed that the fence construction consisted of upright
posts erected in a shallow ditch after which the ditch was
backfilled. From existing photographs this was all that
supported the fence.

The ditch had a depth of at least 1.5 ft., but this was
an approximation, because the ditch fill blended into the

underlying sandy clay making absolute measurement



difficult. The centre line of the ditch ran approximately
parallel to the grid system from 1270N-1290N, 1547.8E. and
its width was 0.9 ft.

This fence or false palisade should not be confused with
the fence that appeared in the 1912 Dominion Day celebration
photographs (Figure 22). Although they were of similar
construction this earlier fence was further to the east than
the one described above and its exact location will be
determined in the coming field season.

3T1H4. This is the designation given to the footing
ditch of what was apparently a log structure that predated
the fish cache. The evidence of this structure consisted of
two logs overlapping at right angles (Figure 23). They were
0.8 ft. to 1.0 ft. in width and there was some evidence of an
angle brace. The logs were joined at 1276N-1277N, 1544E and
the log running east and west appeared to rest on the log
which ran north and south. This second log continued beneath
the fish cache and further excavation will be necessary to
determine the nature of this structure.

3T1H5. A rectangular pit was located at the eastern end
of 3T1H, within the co-ordinates 1275N-1282N, 1570E-1575E,
(Figure 2). This pit was angled slightly toward the clerk's
quarters which was used as a family dwelling during the mid-
20th century, and was believed to have been the latrine
which appeared in photographs taken in 1963. There was also

another earlier privy in this general area, but it was



believed to have been more to the north and in line with the
fish cache. Upon excavation this pit yielded only modern
artifacts and it was backfilled. There were several
post holes associated with it and these were thought to have
been used to support the super-structure of the outhouse.
3T1H6. This was the designation given to the post hole
located at 1276.5N, 1525.5E. This post hole was believed to
have held the post which supported the base of the stairs as
illustrated in Figure 24. 1Its diameter was approximately
1.0 ft.and its location correlated well with the stone work
found further to the east.

Features. Aside from the features described above,
several others of a pertinent nature were uncovered during the
course of this excavation. These include several post holes,
some stone piers and the foundations of the fish cache.

In the southwestern corner of 3T1H a post hole with a
greatly deteriorated post was uncovered whose centre was
located at 1276.N, 1517E. This post hole was rectangular
in shape and measured 1.5 ft. by 2.0 ft. It was similar in
form to those found in front of the warehouse and was only
slightly out of line with those post holes. Another post
hole of comparable dimensions was located at 1278.5N, 1538.4E,
and may also fit into this pattern. There were sevefal other
post holes found in this trench, but their role for the
most part was uncertain. From viewing Figure 2 they may be

construed as forming a line that might represent a fence.



Offset from the fish cache by 3 ft. on the south side
were two groups of stones which were in alignment with the
entrance of the building (Fig. 23). These stones acted as
a base for the supports of the small landing in front of the
doorway. The evevation of these stones was approximately
2274.8 MSL and were of limestone.

The foundation of the fish cache consisted of a squared
log base plate that rested on stone supports placed at the
corners of the building and at irregular intervals along the
sides. These stones, which were also limestone, had slumped
from their original positions as the fish cache had settled.
This slumpage had been severe enough under the southwest corner

that that corner had to be blocked.up with a timber support.

Sznogsis

The foundations of the fish cache required little in the way

of excavation, but there were several features that were
associated with this structure that bear further investigation.
These include the fence north of the building and the

structure which was uncovered beneath the cache.



Figure 21, False palisade as seen in 1928 Centennial
Celebration of the journey of Sir George Simpson

(Beaver, 1928).

Figure 22. Rear fence of post as seen in 1912 during the
Dominion Day celebration (Provincial Archives

of British Columbia).
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Figure 23a. Stone piers for support of staircase posts.
Photograph taken from the doorway of the fish

cache. 3T-103 M.

Figure 23b. Remnants of log structure that pre-dated the
fish cache as seen from the doorway of the

fish cache. 3T-105 M.
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Figure 24.

Fish cache in November, 1912, showing details of
staircase construction. Note how steps terminate
above ground and are supported by a wooden post.
Also note how the fish cache is supported by its
corner posts and the "sill" is above ground and
acts as a tie-beam. (Provincial Archives of

British Columbia).






Figure 25.

Stuart Lake Salmon, circa 1912, Men's house
and fish cache in background. ©Note that the
boardwalk in front of men's house does not

extend past the ends of the building

(Photograph courtesy of Mr. David Bunting).
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The Men's House

The clerk's quarters or, as it later was called, the men's
house, was a dovetailed log construction built of Douglas fir.
The roof with gables at each end was shingled. The main
entrance was on the west side. At the present time the house
is in a deteriorated state, having suffered a fire in the
attic during the winter of 1969-70. Like the warehouse, the
floor inside has suffered from frost heavel and, again, as

in the case of the other building no excavations were

conducted within the structure.

History

The clerk's quarters were first built in 1884 and oriented

to the post that immediately preceded the standing post of
Fért St. James. In the notes that accompany the map of
alterations proposed by Roderick MacFarlane was a statement
that this building was moved to its current location in 1888.
At that time it became a servants' dwelling or a house for
the men working at the post. 1In 1891 it was described by
McDougall as being a log building lined with matched lumber.
During the 1890s it was occupied by Donald Todd and at times
used as quarters for the summer packers moving. through the

district. Later it was again described as being of log



construction with a 2 in. spruce floor and a foundation raised
on blocks. The floor plan on the ground floor was described
as being divided into three rooms.

In 1904-5 the building was temporarily converted into a
schoolhouse while the new, proposed school was being built.

Afterwards, the building was again used as a guest house.

Excavations

Only one test trench was opened in the area of the clerk's
quarters, 3T1N. This was a trench dug at the northwest
corner of the structure and its dimensions were 5 ft. by 20ft.

the co-ordinates being 1240N-1245N, 1515E-1535E.

3T1N

This sub-operation was the excavation of the northwest corner
of the clerk's quarters. Its purpose was twofold:

(a) to secure information concerning the foundation to the
building and the corner detail of that foundation; and

(b) to locate, if possible, any evidence of the boardwalk
that connected the clerk's quarters with the fish cache.

The stratigraphy of this sub-operation consisted of a sod
layer, humus accumulation and sterile clay, 3T1N1l, 3T1N2, and
3T1N3, respectively. The fill from the trench was not
~screened.

Features. Only three features were uncovered during this
excavation, the foundation and two post holes of small size.

The foundation depicted in Figures 26, 27 and 28 was



of notched log construction placed on a single coursed
limestone foundation. These stones varied in length from

0.6 ft. to 1.0 ft. As can be seen in Figure 29 the
foundation did not have a base plate as did the warehouse,
but the lég along the bottom of the west wall extended 1.3 ft.
west of the structure's corner, and was unsupported by the
stone work. This situation was similar to that of the ware-
house in that the bottom log projects out from beneath the
corner of the building, but in the case of the warehouse this
lower log supported a base plate. Further excavation will
determine whether or not this construction occurs at the

other corners of the building.

Sznogsis

The work done around the clerk's quarters during this past
season was very minor and aside from an idea of what the
foundation of the building was like, little can be said about
the important features associated with it. 1In 1972 the
entire area around the building will be excavated to show

its relationship to the various fences to the east of it,

and to the compound to the west.



Figure 26. Northwest corner of men's house as seen from
the west. Note how basal log extends past the
foundation as was the case in the southwest

corner of the warehouse. 3T-92 M.

Figure 27. Northwest corner of Men's house as seen from
the north. Note how sill is joined with a

dovetailed lap joint. 3T-90 M.

Figure 28. Foundation of Men's house as seen from the

north. Note single row of limestones in

foundation. 3T-91 M.
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Figure 29. Stylized view of the northwest corner of the

clerk's quarters (3T-72-102-10).
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Figure 30. The interpreter's house in 1928. Large building
to the rear of the automobiles is the Grahame
Garage (Courtesy of W.D. Fraser, private

collection).
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The Interpreter's House

The interpreter's house was located within the limits of
operation 3T3 which extended from 1140N-1180N, 1515E-1555E
and constituted a square 40 ft. by 40 ft. All that remained
of the structure were some flatigsh foundation stones, some
charcoal ash and lime plaster. The bulk of this material

rested in and around a shallow footing ditch.

History

This building, described by James McDougall as being a log
dwelling house, 17 ft. square lined with matched lumber and
shingle roof, was first indicated on the plan of 1888-89. It
was a new house built for the interpreter, James Bouché& (son

or grandson of Waccan) and probably completed in 1888. It

was to accommodate the interpreter and his family‘until he

left the service and after that, served as a guest house

for itinerants passing through the area. Early in the 20th
century it was whitewashed along with the other buildings at the
post and in 1928 it too received a new roof. In 1935 it burned

to the ground and was not re-built.

Excavations

The excavations of the site of the interpreter's house were

considered as one operation with the emphasis placed on the



entire structure (Fig. 2). Operation 3T3 was subdivided

into 17 sub-operations and each, with the exception of
3T3S,”consisted of a 10 ft. by 10 ft. square. Sub-operation
3T3S was a narrow trench 3 ft.by 30 ft. dug along a north and
south axis across the foundation of the dwelling. It
provided stratigraphic data about these features as well as
the interior of the house.

The other 16 sub-operations were excavated in a simultaneous
manner so that the entire structure was revealed at once, 1In
doing so the sod layer was stripped away completely without
screening and the artifacts recovered from this lot (3T3Al)
were not differentiated by sub-operation. The structure it-
self can be more coherently discussed in terms of the
features involved, which consisted of the foundations of the
building, its footing ditches and an oval ash filled pit
located in 3T3G. Other features included several fragments
of timber outside of the perimeter of the interpreter's house,
probably representing fences and boardwalks which connected

this house with the other buildings in the post.

Stratigraphy

Generally the stratigraphy for this operation was similar to
that found in other parts.of the site in that the cultural

layer of the fort in question was covered by a sod layer and
its accompanying humus accumulation. These layers were all

disturbed when the site was roto-tilled in 1968-69, to a
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depth of 4 inches. Marks from this disturbance were still
evident (Fig. 31). LKppendix A provides a summary of the

lots, their co-ordinates, elevations, and notable features,/

Features

The major- features encountered in this excavation were the
inte;preter's house foundation and accompanying footing

ditch and the fence along the southern side of the house.
There were two modern refuse pits unearthed in 3T3N and

3T3R, but these were definitely recent in origin and bore

no. relation to the interpreter's house. One other feature,

a large oval pit within the confines of the house foundation,
was also excavated, but its relationship to the house was
uncertain.

Foundation. It can be concluded that the foundation of
the interpreter's house was quite like the foundations of the
other buildings of the post. Although it had been disturbed
by recent plowing activities, it can be described as having
been composed of flattish limestones about 0.6 ft. by 0.6 ft.
in size. These were disturbed to such an extent that no
coursing was apparent, but they had been laid in a shallow
footing ditch 0.3 ft. to 0.4 ft. in depth (Figs. 31, 32, 33).

The evidence found would confirm the dimensions as being
17 ft. by 17 ft. square and that the footing ditches were
2.5 ft. to 3.0 ft. wide. There was little evidence to indicate
in which direction the floor joists lay or that there was even

a floor. The only clue in this instance was the shallow,
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filled pit running east and west through the central area of
the house, extending from the front door to the east wall.
This may have been evidence of a sleeper beam to which floor
joists were keyed. To the south of this area a burnt wooden
beam, 1.0 ft. by 7.0 ft.was found which may have represented
the remaining evidence of this beam.

The footing ditch was covered by a layer of charcoal ash,
plaster and mortar chinking, but this ash layer was not
prevalent over the entire area the house had occupied. It
seemed to have been restricted to the vicinity of the
foundations, and only the charred beam mentioned above was
present in the floor area.

3T3G4. This pit was designated 3T3G4 although it over-
lépped into 3T3F and 3T3K. /As described in Appendix A7
It was 5.0 ft. by 8.0 ft. in size and had an approximate
depth of 3.5 ft. It contained.some ash and charcoal on its
surface but the bulk of the fill was sandy clay lensed with
a dark brown humic soil, giving the appearance of having
been shovel loaded. 1Its relation to the foundation of the
building would indicate that it was dug after the building
had been erected, because the sides of the pit cut into the
footing ditches slightly. The charcoal and ash on the surface
indicated that it had been backfilled before the fire.

Fences. Along the southern wall of the house in 3T3Q
and 3T3R the evidence of a collapsed fence was found. This

consisted of two paralled timbers, a cross member and a
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post hole. This fence was comparable to the collapsed fences
that were found at Fort McLeod, which consisted of two
stringer beams along the top and bottom of the fence with
upright supports placed at regular intervals. The gaps
between these intervals were filled with pickets.

The paralleled stringers of the fence alongside the
interpreter's house, were placed on 3.0 ft. centres and the
cross members as represented by two timber fragments were
placed on 5.0 ft. centres (Fig. 31). The 0.6 ft. by 0.8 ft.
post hole at 1147.6N, 1549.6E was probably the remains of one
of the support posts for the fence. 1In sub—opération 3T 3N
there was another timber fragment which may have been
associated with this fence.

In regards to this fence two other sub-operations were
excavated, 3T1P and 3T1Q. These two <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>